
 

 

      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., February 06, 2025  

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. ROLL CALL 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 1st Printing – Thursday, January 30, 2025 
 2nd Printing – Tuesday, February 04, 2025 
 
 
III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES – December 10, 2024 

                                                                                                                  

                                                                                                                   PAGE (S)                                                        

IV.     NEW BUSINESS  

1. Resolution No. FY2025-013 ………………………………………………………                1 

Resolution commending Ms. Lucy R. Awa, Accountant I, for her  

dedication and contribution to the Guam Housing and Urban 

Renewal Authority (GHURA) 

2. Resolution No. FY2025-014 ………………………………………………………             2 - 3 

Resolution commending Ms. Norma P. San Nicolas, Section 8  

Administrator, for her dedication and contribution to the Guam  

Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA) 

3. Intent of Award ……………….. ………………………………………………………            4 - 11     

IFB GHURA-24-14: GPD Eastern Substation, Talofofo, Guam 

 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

1. 2024 LIHTC QAP / Application Cycle 

  

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSION / ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. Next proposed scheduled Board Meeting:  Tuesday, February 25, 2025 

@ 12:00 p.m.   

 

VII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1. Discuss Pending Litigation 

 

VIII. ADJOURNMENT 









 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 1 of 8 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., December 10, 2024 

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

After notice was duly given, pursuant to the Open Government Law of Guam and the Bylaws of 
the Authority, the Board of Commissioners’ regularly scheduled board meeting was called to 
order at 12:15 P.M., Tuesday, December 10, 2024, at the GHURA Sinajana Main Office, 1st 
floor Conference room. Chairman Rivera indicated that 4 of 6 members of the Board of 
Commissioners were present, representing a quorum and that the meeting would proceed as 
scheduled. 

 
Viewed 
virtually via 

ZOOM: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83939708098?pwd=pNKXZ8P3JsurgbyffUReXtoqNo9bL5.1 

YOUTUBE: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag 

BOC 
Commissioners 
Attendance 
 

Dr. John Rivera, Chairman                                        Virtual             In-Person             
Nate Sanchez, Vice Chairman                                  Virtual             In-Person   
Anisia Delia, Commissioner                                      Virtual            In-Person    
Emilia Rice, Commissioner                                       Virtual             In-Person   
Victor Torres, Commissioner                                   Virtual             In-Person    
Karl Corpus, Resident Commissioner                     Virtual             In-Person    
*Request to attend meeting virtually was submitted and acknowledged via email.  

GHURA 
Management/ 
Staff  

Elizabeth F. Napoli, Executive Director          Julie Lujan, MIS Administrator     Carlo Ongklungel  
Fernando B. Esteves, Deputy Director           Sonny Perez, AE Manager             Naricel Carlos   
Audrey Aguon, Special Assistant                     Norma San Nicolas  
Frances Danieli, Controller                              Narcissa Ada, AMP1 Manager  
Katherine Taitano, RP&E Chief Planner         Gina Cura, AMP2 Manager  
Dr. Kimberly Bersamin, HR Administrator     Patrick Bamba, AMP3 Manager  
Antonio Camacho, Procurement                     Philomena San Nicolas, AMP4 Manager  
Pearly Mendiola, GT Manager                         Jolyn Terlaje   
Nicole Alejandro                                                Miguel Fernandez           
Michael Ricuyal                                                   Ervin Santiago     
Maria Cherry Canete □                                         Patrick Luces  
 

Legal Counsel Eliseo M. Florig Jr., GHURA’s Legal Counsel   
 

Public None indicated virtually 
 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1st Printing – Tuesday, December 2, 2024 

    2nd Printing – Sunday, December 8, 2024    
 
   ACKNOWLEDGED BY CHAIRMAN RIVERA 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag


 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 2 of 8 
 

 

III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES: [377/24] Commissioner Rice moved to 

approve the board meeting minutes of November 26, 2024, subject to corrections. 

Commissioner Corpus seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously.  

 

IV. NEW BUSINESS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Resolution No. 
FY2025-0011-
Resolution 
approving the 
Above-Step 
Recruitment for the 
Engineer II 
(Permanent 
Position) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[378/24] Executive Director Napoli read 
Resolution No. FY2025-011 on pages 1-2 
of 18 in the GHURA Board of 
Commissioners (BoC) December 10, 
2024, meeting packet.  

 

Chairman Rivera inquired about whether 
there was a need to revisit the pay scale. Dr. 
Kimberly Bersamin, HR Administrator, 
indicated that an assessment was done in 
2024 of the pay scale. She added that she 
will need to meet with the Fiscal division to 
determine whether another review can be 
done.  

 

Dr. Bersamin indicated that Mr. Miguel 
Fernandez was initially hired in a temporary 
capacity due to the immediate need of the 
position. She added that the recruitment was 
completed over the summer and humbly 
requested the board’s approval of the above-
step recruitment.  

 

Chairman Rivera asked how many members 
there were on the AE’s staff. Mr. Sonny 
Perez, AE Chief Planner, stated that the team 
consisted of two Civil Structural Engineers, 
two building inspectors/CAT operators, and 
a Program Coordinator III.  

There were no further discussions.  

 

 

 

[379/24] Commissioner 

Corpus moved to 

approve Resolution No. 

FY2025-0011-

Resolution approving 

the Above-Step 

Recruitment for the 

Engineer II for Mr. 

Miguel Fernandez for 

NG5-09(E), $78,214 

p/a: $37.60 p/hr. 

subject to the 

corrections noted on 

the resolution. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections, and the 

motion passed 

unanimously.  

Chairman Rivera 

indicated that the 

board wants GHURA to 

continue its mission 

and to continue in the 

trajectory that its on. 

He added that the 

board will continue to 

support GHURA and its 

needs.   

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 3 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

2. Resolution No. 
FY2025-007 (A)- 
Resolution 
approving Fiscal 
Year 2025 Section 8 
Housing Choice 
Voucher Program 
Payment Standards 
(updated) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[380/24] Executive Director Napoli read 
Resolution No. FY2025-007(A) approving 
the Fiscal Year 2025 Section 8 Housing 
Choice Voucher Program Payment 
Standards on pages 3-6 of 18 in the 
GHURA BoC December 10, 2024, meeting 
packet. She added that this Resolution is 
an amendment to a prior resolution. 

 

Chairman Rivera asked about the date of the 
original resolution. Deputy Director Esteves 
indicated that the original resolution was 
approved on November 27, 2024. He added 
that after the board approved the original 
Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program 
Payment Standards, it was submitted to HUD 
for review. Upon review, HUD sent it back to 
GHURA for corrections to be made. 
Resolution No. FY2025-007(A) is the 
amendment made to the original FY2025 
Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program 
Payment Standards.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[381/24] Commissioner 

Rice moved to approve 

Resolution No. FY2025-

007 (A)- Resolution 

approving Fiscal Year 

2025 Section 8 Housing 

Choice Voucher Program 

Payment Standards 

(updated). Mr. Eliseo M. 

Florig, Jr., GHURA’s Legal 

Counsel, indicated that 

the correction made by 

Director Napoli, be 

stated in the motion. 

Commissioner Rice 

amended her motion to 

include noted 

amendments. 

Commissioner Corpus 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections, The motion 

passed unanimously, 

subject to correction. 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 4 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

3. Change Order 1- IFB 
GHURA 24-1, 
Rehabilitation of 
Bradley Building 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[382/24] Executive Director Napoli 
stated the following: 

• Bradley Building in Anigua was 
purchased by GHURA with non-
federal funds. 

• To be used as a storage facility to 
store all GHURA files that are 
currently being stored at various 
facilities. 

• She requested that Mr. Sonny 
Perez present Change Order No. 1 
to the board. 

• Mr. Sonny Perez presented two 
issues that need to be addressed: 

o Bradley Bld. Is adjacent to 
the left side of Chode Mart 
building. 

o It receives power from a 
power pole that is located 
on the right side of the 
Chode Mart Building 
parking lot.  

o Encroaching issue- A power 
line runs from the right side 
of Chode Mart bld. and into 
the Bradley Bld.  

o The power line is a hazard 
and needs to be addressed.  

o Power meter replacement- 
A power meter near Bradley 
Bld. must be replaced. 

• SOLUTION:  
o Run an underground power 

line-standard installation to 
include the pedestal at 
$28,350.00 

There were no further discussions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[383/24] Commissioner 

Corpus moved to 

approve Change Order 1- 

IFB GHURA 24-1, 

Rehabilitation of Bradley 

Building at $28,350.00 

total to Genesis Tech 

Corp. Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 5 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

4. 2024 LIHTC 
QAP/Application 
Cycle 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[384/24] Executive Director Napoli 
stated that information was provided to 
the board which included criteria that 
was considered for the selection of the 
LIHTC 2024 application and read the 
LIHTC Panel results and 
recommendations on pages 12-18 of 18 
in the GHURA BoC December 10, 2024 
meeting packet.  

 

Commissioner Delia asked how the 
developers who have no experience get a 
higher score than the developers with many 
years of experience. Ms. Katherine Taitano, 
GHURA Chief Planner, indicated that all the 
developers in question have experience in 
large housing projects. There were elements 
in the scoring that warranted the ranking 
that each was given.  

 

Chairman Rivera asked that based on the 
criteria, its more about experience with the 
scale of the project more so than having had 
previous experience with LIHTC.  Ms. 
Taitano stated that there are no additional 
credits awarded for having prior experience 
with LIHTC. Chairman Rivera asked why the 
question of “experience with LIHTC” be on 
the chart if it isn’t a part of the criteria being 
judged. Deputy Director Esteves indicated 
that the chart on pg. 16 was general 
information for the board and not germane 
to ranking provided by the panel.  

 

Chairman Rivera indicated that the board 
has the option to withhold the award and 
asked what the advantage is of withholding 
the award. Ms. Katherine Taitano stated that 
there were no advantages to withholding the 
allocation. GHURA would have no insight 
into projects moving forward. Deputy 
Director Esteves added that the 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 6 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

disadvantage of withholding allocation is 
that houses won’t be built which does not 
help the community and the risk of 
increased construction costs while GHURA 
waits for another round.   

 

Ms. Joyce Tang, Legal Counsel for CoreTech, 
asked if there would be an opportunity for 
the public to comment. Chaiman Rivera 
informed her that the board was still in 
deliberation.  

 

During deliberation, Chairman Rivera asked 
the board if they had questions or additional 
information that they require regarding the 
results from the panel. Ms. Taitano added 
that the score sheets and the notes are 
available to the board to assist in their 
deliberation.  

 

Ms. Taitano indicated that she misspoke in 
her earlier comment and clarified to the 
board that having LIHTC experience is 
considered in the scoring and is reflected in 
the scoring sheet.  

 

Commissioner Delia wanted more 
information regarding the scoring and 
requested to review documents and details 
of the scoring,  

Chairman Rivera asked Ms. Taitano if she 
could provide more information on the 
scoring criteria for the LIHTC Experience. 
Ms. Taitano indicated that based on the QAP, 
the LIHTC criterion is split into two 
elements: Developer/Owner Experience and 
Management Team Experience. The points 
ranged from six to three to zero. The 
maximum points for that criterion were 
twelve.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 7 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

[385/24] Chairman 

Rivera moved to accept 

the recommendation of 

the Evaluation 

Committee for the 

GHURA Board of 

Commissioners to award 

$1,793,120.00 to Flores 

Rosa, LLC, for the Flores 

Rosa Project who ranked 

first on the evaluation. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

Commissioner Delia 

opposed the motion. 

Chairman Rivera noted 

Commissioner Delia’s 

opposition.  

The motion passed.  

 

The discussion of the 

remaining balance from 

the 2024 Tax Credits of 

$4,751,880.00 and the 

2025 Tax Credits were 

tabled for the next 

scheduled board 

meeting.  

 

 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

AGENDA ITAM 
 

DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Resolution No. 
FY2025-008, 
Resolution to 
extend loan funds 
to Manelu by 
GHURA 

 

[386/24] Executive Director Napoli 
requested to have this item removed from 
the agenda and brought before the board at 
a later date.  

[387/24] Chairman 
Rivera agreed to table 
this item.  

 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of December 10, 2024                                                       Page 8 of 8 
 

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSIONS / ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Next proposed 
scheduled Board 
Meeting; 
December 24, 
2024 @ 12:00 
p.m. 

[388/24] Chairman Rivera requested that 
commissioners mark their calendars and 
confirm with GHURA staff regarding 
attendance of the next scheduled meeting.  

No Action taken. 

 

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

  [389/24] 

Commissioner Corpus 

moved to adjourn the 

December 10, 2024, 

meeting. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

The motion passed. 

The meeting was 

adjourned at 2:09 P.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
         SEAL 
 
             ______________________________ 
       Elizabeth F. Napoli 
       Board Secretary/Executive Director 
   
       Date __________________________ 

    



GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-013 

 

 

Moved by:               Seconded by:    ______________             _ 

 

RESOLUTION COMMENDING MS. LUCY R. AWA, ACCOUNTANT I, FOR HER 
DEDICATION AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL 
AUTHORITY (GHURA) 

 
WHEREAS,      Ms. Lucy R. Awa dedicated a total of 29 years in the Government of Guam; and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to joining the GHURA team, Ms. Awa worked for the Office of the Attorney 

General as an Accounting Technician I, up to an Accounting Technician III from 1996 
to 2004; and      

 
WHEREAS, on May 31, 2004, Ms. Awa started her employment with GHURA taking a promotion in 

the Fiscal Division as an Accountant I; and   
    
WHEREAS, in total, Ms. Awa has dedicated over 20 years and 8 months of service in support of the 

mission and goals of the Authority; and 
 
WHEREAS, her efforts in the Fiscal Division had a direct and positive impact to the Guam 

Community, our Agency and its employees through her dedication, commitment, and 
hard work supporting the Fiscal Office; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners extends its recognition and gratitude to Ms. Lucy R. Awa, 

commending her on her retirement from the Authority, and further extends its best 
wishes on her future endeavors; now, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners shall certify, and the Executive 

Director attest the adoption hereof BOC Resolution No. FY2025-013, and that thereafter 
shall be presented to Ms. Lucy R. Awa, whereby a copy shall be placed in her official 
personnel file, and a copy provided to the Governor of Guam. 

 
 
IN REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – FEBRUARY 06, 2025 
PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 
AYES:                

NAYS:                
ABSENT:           
ABSTAINED:    

 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct 

copy of a Resolution duly adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of Commissioners on  

February 06, 2025. 

 

           (SEAL)                                          ________________________________ 

       ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                       Board Secretary / Executive Director  

Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 1 of 11



GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-014 

 
 
Moved by:   Seconded by:   __________________ 
 

RESOLUTION COMMENDING MS. NORMA P. SAN NICOLAS, SECTION 8 
ADMINISTATOR FOR HER DEDICATION AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE GUAM 
HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY (GHURA) 
 
 
WHEREAS, Ms. Norma P. San Nicolas dedicated a total of 32 years in the 

Government of Guam; and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to joining the GHURA team, Ms. San Nicolas worked for Guam 

Community College (GCC) as a Library Technician from 1992 to 1996; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, during this short period at GCC, Ms. San Nicolas notably completed her 

Bachelor of Science in Public Administration degree under the 
Government of Guam’s Pedro “DOC” Sanchez Scholarship Program in 
May 1995; and  

 
WHEREAS, this bachelor’s degree opened the doors for Ms. San Nicolas to start her 

career with GHURA as a Research Planning and Evaluations Specialist 
on June 11, 1996; and  

 
WHEREAS, Ms. San Nicolas experienced a change of title and became a Planner II 

and was subsequently promoted to the Planner III position on March 15, 
1999; and  

 
WHEREAS, Ms. San Nicolas then was promoted two years later to serve as a 

Management Analyst IV to the Executive Director on July 2, 2001; and 
 
WHEREAS, after a very competitive recruitment process, Ms. San Nicolas was 

promoted to take the helm of the Section 8 division as the Section 8 
Administrator on July 2, 2006; and 

 
WHEREAS, for 19 years as GHURA’s Section 8 Administrator, Ms. San Nicolas’ 

vision and commitment to the HCV program is a testament to the high 
standard of excellence she ascribes to in all things, borne of her passion 
to serve the people of Guam. Her leadership echoes throughout the 
team through their hard work and dedication of housing participants of 
the program; and    

 
WHEREAS, her success in methodically delivering her official duties and 

responsibilities had a direct and positive impact toward the communities 
of Guam and our GHURA families; and 

 
WHEREAS, overall, Ms. San Nicolas dedicated over 28 years and 10 months of 

service in support of the mission and goals of the Authority; and 
 
 

Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 2 of 11



WHEREAS,  Ms. San Nicolas has contributed positively to the lives and successes of 
thousands of island residents who now have access to housing for 
decades to come; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners extend its recognition and gratitude to Ms. 

Norma P. San Nicolas, commending her on her retirement from the 
Authority, and best wishes on her future endeavors; now, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners shall certify, and the 

Executive Director attest the adoption hereof BOC Resolution No. 
FY2025-014, and that thereafter shall be presented to Ms. Norma P. San 
Nicolas, whereby a copy shall be placed in her official personnel file, and 
a copy provided to the Governor of Guam. 

 
 
 
IN REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – February 06, 2025 
PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 
AYES:     
NAYS:        
ABSENT:        
ABSTAINED:         
 

 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, 
and correct copy of a Resolution duly adopted 
by the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 
Authority Board of Commissioners on 
February 06, 2025. 
 

     (SEAL)                                          ________________________________ 
ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

               Board Secretary / Executive Director  

Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 3 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 4 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 5 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 6 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 7 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 8 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 9 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 10 of 11



Board Meeting of Febraury 06, 2025 PAGE 11 of 11










